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This is a redacted version of the Consumer Product Safety Commission Office of Inspector 
General’s Report of Investigation into Irregularities in the FY 2022 Operating Plan Vote.   
 
Agency management has chosen to exercise certain privileges regarding the public release of 
agency information.  The information and privileges in question both belong to the 
agency.  The agency’s exercise of those privileges over their information is reflected in the 
redactions that follow. 
 
Questions regarding redactions and requests for an unredacted copy of this report should be 
addressed to agency management. 
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This memorandum was prepared by the CPSC staff. It has not been reviewed  
or approved by, and may not necessarily reflect the views of, the Commission. 

 

TO: Christopher Dentel, Inspector General DATE: October 20, 2022   

FROM: Austin Schlick, General Counsel  

SUBJECT: Management’s Response to Draft Report of Investigation into 
Irregularities in the FY 2022 Operating Plan Vote 

 

 

 

 Management acknowledges receipt of the draft Report of Investigation into Irregularities in the 
FY 2022 Operating Plan Vote (Draft Report) and its recommendations.  Management appreciates 
the attention of the Office of Inspector General (OIG) to this matter.  Management concurs that there 
were procedural controversies in the course of adopting the Commission’s Fiscal Year 2022 
Operating Plan.  Critically, however, the Commission resolved the matter by a majority vote on 
October 1, 2021.  In Management’s view, the Draft Report describes a difficult path to a timely 
outcome that accorded fully with all legal requirements for agency decision-making.  Below we 
provide specific responses to the Draft Report’s recommendations.  

 1. The Commission should form a committee to review, and if necessary, revise its 
Decision Making Procedures to better conform with current agency needs.  

 The Draft Report we have been provided finds instances in which the Decision Making 
Procedures (DMPs) were unevenly applied and that the then-Acting General Counsel misinterpreted 
the DMPs.  But the Draft Report does not identify any deficiency in the provisions of the DMPs 
themselves.  Nor does it note anything about the procedures that calls for their revision due to the 
mere passage of time.  To the contrary, Management sees benefit to stable operating procedures.  
Because the thrust of the Draft Report is that the DMPs were not consistently followed during the 
brief time period under review, rather than that the DMPs are in any way unfit for their intended 
purpose, the report does not identify any need for revision of the DMPs.   

 Regarding implementation of the DMPs, Management agrees that improvements compared to 
the status quo in Fall 2021 should be made.  Since the events discussed in the Draft Report and 
under the direction of Chair Hoehn-Saric, the Executive Director, the General Counsel, the Office of 
the Secretary, and the Agenda Planning Committee have all emphasized consistent adherence to 
the DMPs as well as to procedures the Commission has established outside the DMP process.  
Management believes that this emphasis on even application of the applicable procedures is the 
most direct and important response to the findings of the Draft Report.  To that end, Management 
concurs that additional training on the requirements of the DMPs for relevant staff, including 
Commissioners and their personal staff, is warranted.  Such training will be provided.  In addition, 
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Management will explore whether there are additional procedures that could be implemented by the 
Office of the Secretary, or otherwise, to facilitate compliance with the DMPs in routine Commission 
activities. 

 2. The Decision Making Procedures should be published in order to ensure transparency 
when conducting Commission business. In the alternative, if the decision is made to not 
publish them, the rationale for this decision should be recorded.  

 The full Commission has addressed this issue.  In voting to adopt the DMPs as internal 
operating procedures, the Commission approved their designation as “For Official Use Only,” and 
thus they are not available to the public.  Management does, however, concur to the extent that 
Commission staff will ensure the Commissioners are aware of OIG’s report and recommendations.  
The Commission will determine whether it wishes to take further action on this recommendation to 
reconsider its prior decision. 

 3. The Commission and the General Counsel should review the Secretary’s position at 
the agency and consider implementing a more robust role for the Secretary regarding the 
implementation of the Decision Making Procedures.  

 The Position Description of the Secretary has been revised since the events examined in the 
Draft Report.  It now provides in part that the Secretary will “[s]erve as a technical authority on 
Commission policies and procedures, directives, delegations of authority and statutory and 
administrative requirements which apply to the Commission’s decision making processes.”  Further, 
“[a]s a technical expert,” the Secretary will “work in conjunction with the [General Counsel] to advise 
the Commission and other staff on policy and procedural matters relating to [applicable statutes] and 
the administrative regulations and agency policies and procedures with regard to the Commission’s 
decision-making processes.”  This revised description of the Secretary’s role accurately captures the 
responsibilities of the incumbent, and her relationship with the current General Counsel and the 
Commission.  While the General Counsel supervises the Secretary and has responsibility for 
interpreting Commission procedural documents subject to correction by the Commission, the role 
and expertise of the Commission Secretary regarding Commission procedures are robust and 
consistent with the Position Description.  In fact, since the events discussed in the Draft Report, the 
Secretary has become a direct report to the General Counsel to better enable direct communication 
between the General Counsel and the Secretary on matters such as application of the DMPs.  

 Management accordingly concurs in this recommendation and considers it fulfilled.  To the 
extent that OIG’s investigation suggests the Secretary had an uncharacteristically limited role in the 
Fiscal Year 2022 Operating Plan approval process, moreover, Management agrees greater inclusion 
of the Secretary—consistent with the current Position Description—might have improved the process 
surrounding the September 24, 2021, vote. 

 4. The position description for the Secretary should be revised to reflect the actual duties 
performed by the Secretary. 

 See response to Recommendation 3. 
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 5. If changes are made to the Decision Making Procedures, relevant staff should be 
trained on the new Decision Making Procedures. 

 As explained in Management’s response to Recommendation 1, Management concurs that 
additional training on the DMPs is warranted, and intends to provide such training. 

 6. The General Counsel retract, or in some other way clarify, the status of the legal review 
nullifying the Commissioners’ vote on the FY 2022 Operating Plan. It should be made clear 
that the legal review does not constitute an accurate summation of the General Counsel’s 
views on the legal issues involved or a precedent for future vote nullifications. 

 The Commission resolved this issue on October 1, 2021.  The Record of Commission Action for 
the Fiscal Year 2022 Operating Plan reflects that a majority of Commissioners voted to adopt the 
following language: 

The General Counsel has no authority under the statutes, regulations, and 
procedures governing the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission, 
to nullify a vote of the Commission. Assuming, arguendo, such authority were 
vested, it is the opinion of the Commission that the vote on the Fiscal Year 2022 
Operating Plan (Briefing Package dated September 15, 2021) was conducted in 
accordance with Commission procedures and practices, notwithstanding any 
interpretation, intent, or meaning the Commission’s Office of General Counsel 
(OGC) has provided to the contrary, and thus that this document was approved, 
as amended, on September 24, 2021. 

As General Counsel I can confirm that this language in the Record of Commission Action is the 
definitive statement of the CPSC on this matter and supersedes the opinion of the then-Acting 
General Counsel that the full Commission was reviewing.  Accordingly, Management considers this 
recommendation satisfied.  

 7. The CPSC expand its existing training concerning information protection to include 
the prohibition on the release of privileged information and the possible consequences of 
same. 

 Management concurs in this recommendation.  The related topics on which CPSC currently 
provides mandatory training for all employees include Privacy, Prohibition on the Disclosure of Trade 
Secrets and Confidential Information, Ethics (including misuse of nonpublic information), Personally 
Identifiable Information, Records (i.e., safeguarding agency records), and Information Security 
Awareness regarding external threats.  Training is provided through new employee onboarding, 
annual trainings provided by the Office of the General Counsel, and annual trainings completed in 
FedTalent on the Skillsoft platform.  As necessary, CPSC supplements the Skillsoft module trainings 
with PowerPoints placed in FedTalent for employees to certify their review, and/or an annual training 
with an attendance certification.  Failure to complete required trainings may result in loss of network 
access and disciplinary action.   

 In response to OIG’s recommendation, Management intends to include, in new employee 
orientation and annual training for Commissioners and all Commission employees, information that 
specifically addresses the definition and requirements for safeguarding privileged information, with 
discussion of the potential consequences of wrongful disclosure.     
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*     *     *     * 

 Management appreciates this opportunity to comment on the Draft Report and would be 
pleased to discuss these matters further with OIG. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For more information on this report please contact us at CPSC-OIG@cpsc.gov 

 

To report fraud, waste, or abuse, mismanagement, or wrongdoing at the CPSC go to 

OIG.CPSC.GOV or call (301) 504-7906 

 

Office of Inspector General, CPSC, 4330 East-West Hwy., Suite 702, Bethesda, MD. 20814 
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